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DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Billy M Tenant, Esq., Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania,
for USS, a Division of USX Corp. (USS); M guel J.
Carmona, Esq., O fice of the Solicitor, US.
Depart ment of Labor, Chicago, Illinois for the
Secretary of Labor (Secretary);
James Ranta, Staff Representative, United
St eel workers of America, Virginia, Mnnesota, for
for the Representative of Mners (USWA)

Bef ore: Judge Broderick

The above proceedi ngs i nvolve one citation and six

wi t hdrawal orders concerning which USS has filed notices of
contest, and 16 alleged safety violations charged in 10 citations
and 6 withdrawal orders (including the contested citation and

orders) for which the Secretary seeks civil penalties. The
citations and orders were issued between Novenber 28, 1989, and
January 24, 1990, during an inspection at the Mnntac Pl ant.
Therefore, they were consolidated for purposes of hearing and
deci sion. Local Union 1938, USWA requested and, wi thout

obj ection, was granted party status in the proceedi ng. Pursuant
to notice the case was called for hearing in Duluth, M nnesota,
on Cctober 17 and 18, 1990. Janes King and John Keating testified
on behalf of the Secretary; John Keating also testified on behalf
of USWA; Ronal d Rantal a, Bruce Long, Tom Hakal a, and Randal | Pond
testified on behalf of USS. Al parties have filed post hearing
briefs. | have considered the entire record and the contentions
of the parties and make the foll owi ng deci sion.

FI NDI NGS OF FACT

USS is the owner and operator of the Mnntac Plant | ocated
in St. Louis County, Mnnesota. It produces taconite pellets from
| ow-grade iron ore. The plant includes a mne, a crusher, a
concentrator and an aggl onerator. During the year prior to the
citations and orders involved herein, approximtely 1,159,284
hours of work were performed at the Mnntac Plant, and over 3
mllion hours were perfornmed by the controlling entity. USS is a
| arge operator. Between January 24, 1988 and January 23, 1990,
there were 414 paid violations of mandatory health and safety
standards at the subject facility, including 178 assessed
violations of 30 C.F. R [ 56.11001, and 28 assessed viol ati ons of
30 CF.R [0O56.20003. In view of the size of the facility, this
history is not such that penalties otherw se appropriate should
be increased because of it. Paynent of the proposed penalties in
these cases will not affect the ability of USS to continue in
business. All of the citations and orders involved in these
proceedi ngs were abated pronptly and in good faith.

The inspection which resulted in the citations and orders
was of the mlling facility of the plant and particularly, the
aggl onerator. The aggl onmerator is the last step in the taconite
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produci ng process, and the pellets are forned there. It is

| ocated in two separate buildings, each with six floors. One
bui | di ng has about 800, 000 square feet of floor space, the other
about 400, 000. There are 169 conveyor belts in one building and
125 in the other. They carry approximately 52,000 tons of

mat eri al each day in order to produce about 41,000 tons of

pell ets. About 240 nminers are enployed in the aggl onerator.

CI TATI ON 3444248

On Novenber 28, 1989, a citation was issued for an all eged
violation of 30 C.F.R [ 56.11001 because an area of the washdown
floor in the agglonerator was covered with wet slurry across the
entire wal kway. There were al so washdown hoses |ying on the
floor. The slurry was about 1 or 2 inches deep and covered an
area of about 20 feet by 30 feet. No one was cleaning the area
when the citation was i ssued, and no enpl oyees were present in
the area. The area was frequently used as a travelway to other
areas of the plant. It was not the sole route to these areas
however. The violation was abated the followi ng day when the
cited area was cl eaned.

CI TATI ON 3469424

On January 2, 1990, a citation was issued for an all eged
violation of 30 C F.R [ 56.20003 because of an accunul ati on of
dust and other extraneous nmaterials including tools on a wal kway
adj acent to a conveyor belt. There was al so dust on machinery in
the area of the wal kway. The dust on the wal kway was about 1 to 2
i nches deep. The wal kway was about 10 feet wi de and 60 to 70 feet
I ong. Dust on the machinery was 4 to 5 i nches deep. Enpl oyees did
not regularly work in the area, and no one was in the area at the
time the citation was issued. Footprints were seen in the dust.
The viol ati on was abated on or before the term nation date,
January 8, when the wal kway was cl eaned.

ClI TATI ON 3469425

This citation was issued January 2, 1990, alleging a
violation of 30 CF.R 0O 56.20003 because of an accunul ati on of
dust, hoses and tools on an el evated wal kway adjacent to the head
end of the conveyor. No enpl oyees were working in the area and it
was travelled only infrequently. The accunmul ation varied from1
to 2 inches deep and covered an area of about 20 feet by 20 feet.
On the day in question the wash punps were inoperative, and it
was not possible to hose down the area. The punps had been down
for about 3 days. The viol ation was abated on or before the
term nation date of the citati on when the wal kway was cl eaned.

CI TATI ON 3469426

This citation was issued January 2, 1990, charging a
violation of 30 C F.R [ 56.11001 because of an accunul ati on of
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ore up to 8 inches deep along a wal kway. The area covered was
approximately 10 feet by 3 feet. The material was dry . This area
al so could not be washed down because the punp was inoperative.
The conveyor was sel dom used and enpl oyees worked infrequently in
the area. However, there were footprints and a heater in the
cited area. The violation was abated on or before the termnation
date when the wal kway was cl eaned.

CI TATI ON 3469427

A violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 56.20003 was charged because of
an accunul ation of ore, hoses and other materials along a wal kway
adj acent to a conveyor. The wal kway was used by attendants who
were supposed to clean the areas where they worked. As in the
previously cited areas, this area could not be washed down
because the punp was inoperative. The violation was abated on or
before the term nati on date when the wal kway was cl eaned.

ClI TATI ON 3469428

A violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 56.20003 was cited because slurry
and ore as well as hoses were permitted to accunulate in a
wal kway of a washdown floor. The slurry and ore accurul ati on
varied from1l to 3 inches deep. It was slippery. Enployees were
not working in the area at the tinme the condition was cited. The
area had been partially washed down before the punps becane
i noperative. The violation was abated on or before the
term nati on date when the wal kway area was cl eaned.

CI TATI ON 3469429

A violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 56.11001 was al |l eged because of
an accunul ation of slurry in a wal kway of a washdown floor. The
accurul ation was 3 to 4 inches deep and covered an area 5 feet
wi de and approxi mately 500 feet |ong. Hoses were lying on the
wal kway, some of them buried in the slurry. The area was not
normally travelled. The slurry resulted froman overspill from
the filter. The violation was abated on or before the termnination
date when the wal kway was cl eaned

CI TATI ON 3469431

A violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 56.11001 was all eged on January
3, 1990, because of an accurulation of slurry and dry ore in the
center wal kway of a washdown floor. Part of the accumrul ati on was
wet and part was dry. The area was not frequently travelled, but
it was necessary to travel it for maintenance purposes. The
viol ati on was abated on or before the termi nati on date when the
area was cl eaned.

CI TATI ON 3469433

A violation of 30 CF. R 0O 56.11001 was charged because of
an accunul ation of slurry on a wal kway between two conveyors.
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The slurry was 4 to 6 inches deep and covered the entire wal kway,
150 feet long and 5 feet wide. It was very wet and very slippery.
The wal kway was used relatively infrequently for maintenance of
the conveyors. No enployees were in the area at the tinme the
citation was issued. The violation was abated on or before the
term nati on date when the wal kway was cl eaned.

ClI TATI ON 3469434

This citation was issued on January 3, 1990, and charges an
unwarrantable failure violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 56.11001. It was
i ssued under section 104(d) (1) of the Act. The inspector
originally told USS that he was going to issue a 104(a) citation
However, he informed USS by tel ephone on January 4 that the
citation would be issued under section 104(d)(1). The witten
citation was actually delivered on January 8. The citation
charges a viol ati on because of an accumul ation of slurry 1-1/2
inches in depth, 10 feet wide and 90 to 100 feet |long. There were
footprints in the slurry and hoses |ying across the wal kway.
Several enployees used the wal kway. The washdown hoses were
i noperative at the tinme. The condition was abated prior to the
term nati on date when the area was barricaded and t he wal kway
cl eaned up.

ORDER NO. 3469435

On January 3, 1990, Inspector King issued a 104(d) (1)
wi t hdrawal order alleging an unwarrantable failure violation of
30 C.F.R 0O 56.11001 because of an accunul ation of fine dry ore
al ong both sides of an el evated wal kway adjacent to a conveyor.
The accunul ati on was conically shaped and covered the entire
wal kway and was up to 10 inches in depth. The wal kway was used
for mai ntenance purposes and was the only access to the conveyor
There were no enployees in the area at the tine of the citation
The condition was abated on January 8, 1990, when the area was
barri caded and cl eaned up

ORDER NO. 3469437

The inspector issued a 104(d)(1) order for a condition
observed on January 3, 1990, alleging a violation of 30 CF. R O
56.1101. Initially Inspector King infornmed USS that he would
i ssue a 104(a) citation for the condition. On January 4, 1990, he
i nformed USS by tel ephone that he was going to issue a 104(d) (1)
order. The witten order was served on USS on January 8. Ore was
present on a wal kway around a tail pulley of a conveyor. The
accurul ati on was approximately 2 to 3 feet deep on both sides of
the tail pulley and covered about two-thirds of the wal kway. The
area was not frequently travelled, but was used by mai ntenance
wor kers and supervisors. A sign was present restricting access to
the area. The condition was abated by barricadi ng and cl eani ng
t he area.
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ORDER NO. 3469438

On January 8, 1990, Inspector King received witten
conpl aints frommners given himby the union safety
representative all having to do with cleanup problens at the
plant. the inspector found piles of fine dry ore and a buil dup of
slurry across the entire floor of the washdown floor. There were
footprints in the material indicating that it had been present
for sone tinme. The Union safety committeeman had pointed out the
problemto USS sone days previously. At the time of the
i nspection, two enployees were cleaning the area with a water
hose. The area was used by mai ntenance workers and operationa
personnel. None were in the area at the tinme the order was
i ssued. The area was not barricaded, nor were any warning signs
posted. In early January 1990, USS was attenpting to reclaimthe
frozen chunks of concentrate, and it overloaded its reslurrying
system causing a major spill on the washdown floor. This
occurred on and prior to January 7. USS has a cl eanup program for
t he aggl onerator plant, and additional nmen were assigned to clean
up after the spill. The order was term nated February 13, 1990,
after the area was barricaded and cl eaned up. It had been cl eaned
up by the end of January.

ORDER NO. 3469439

On January 8, 1990, Inspector King, again acting on a
mner's conplaint, issued a 104(d)(2) order alleging a violation
of 30 C.F.R [ 56.11001 because the floor of classifier pit,
approximately 30 feet by 30 feet, was covered with slurry and
water up to 1 foot in depth. The punps had overfl owed causing the
accumul ati on. The area was travelled by miners once or tw ce each
shift to check the punps. No one was in the area when the order
was issued. The area had been cited many tinmes previously for
accurul ati on problens. the order was term nated January 31, 1990,
after the area was barricaded and cl eaned up

ORDER NO. 3469440

This order was issued on January 8, 1990, follow ng a
mner's conplaint. It alleges a violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 56.11001
for an accunul ati on of water and slurry on the floor of another
classifier pit. The accunul ati on was about 1 foot deep and
covered an area of about 25 feet by 30 feet. The area was used hy
mai nt enance personnel to service the punps. The condition was
simlar to that cited in order No. 3469439 and resulted fromthe
same problem The area was not barricaded or posted. The order
was term nated on January 22, 1990, after the area was barricaded
and cl eaned up.

ORDER NO. 3469471

On January 24, 1990, |nspector King issued a 104(d)(1) order
alleging a violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 56.11001, for an accumnul ation
of wet slurry on a travelway around a conveyor tail pulley. The
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accunul at

on was fromone to eight inches deep and covered an

area of 20 feet wide and 60 feet long. The wet slurry was very

slippery.
not heavi
order was
after the

STATUTORY

Sect i

Footprints were seen in the wal kway. The wal kway was

y travelled. No one was cleaning in the area when the
i ssued. The order was term nated on January 25, 1990,
area was barricaded and the slurry was hosed away.

PROVI SI ON
on 104(d) (1) of the M ne Act provides as foll ows:

(d)(1) If, upon any inspection of a coal or other mne
an authorized representative of the Secretary finds
that there has been a violation of any mandatory health
or safety standard, and if he also finds that, while
the conditions created by such violation do not cause
i mm nent danger, such violation is of such nature as
could significantly and substantially contribute to the
cause and effect of a coal or other nine safety or
heal th hazards, and if he finds such violation to be
caused by an unwarrantable failure of such operator to
conmply with such mandatory health or safety standards,
he shall include such finding in any citation given to
the operator under this Act. If, during the sane
i nspection or any subsequent inspection of such nne
within 90 days after the issuance of such citation, an
aut horized representative of the Secretary finds
anot her violation of any mandatory health or safety
standard and finds such violation to be also caused by
an unwarrantable failure of such operator to so conply,
he shall forthwith issue an order requiring the
operator to cause all persons in the area affected by
such viol ation, except those persons referred to in
subsection (c) to be withdrawn from and to be
prohi bited fromentering, such area until an authorized
representative of the Secretary determines that such
vi ol ati on has been abat ed.

(2) I'f a withdrawal order with respect to
any area in a coal or other mne has been
i ssued pursuant to paragraph (1), a
wi t hdrawal order shall pronptly be issued by
an aut horized representative of the Secretary
who finds upon any subsequent inspection the
exi stence in such mne of violations simlar
to those that resulted in the issuance of the
wi t hdrawal order under paragraph (1) unti
such time as an inspection of such m ne
di scl oses no simlar violations. Follow ng
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an inspection of such mne which discloses no
simlar violations, the provisions of
par agraph (1) shall again be applicable to
that m ne

REGULATI ONS
30 CF.R [0O57.11001 provides as foll ows:

Saf e neans of access shall be provided and
mai ntai ned to all working places.

30 C.F.R [ 56.20003 provides as foll ows:

At all mning operations--

(a) Workpl aces, passageways, storeroons, and

service roons shall be kept clean and orderly;

(b) The floor of every workplace shall be naintained in
a clean and, so far as possible, dry condition. Were
wet processes are used, drainage shall be maintained,
and false floors, platforns, mats, or other dry

st andi ng pl aces shall be provided where

practicable; and

(c) Every floor, working place, and passageway shall be
kept free fromprotruding nails, splinters, holes or

| oose boards, as practicable.

| SSUES

1. Whether the violations charged in the citations and
orders were established by the evidence.

la. Whether to establish the violations charged, it is
necessary to show that enpl oyees were actually working
in the cited areas when the citations and orders were
i ssued.

2. Whether the violations charged in citations 3444248 and
3469434 and in order 3469438 were properly designated significant
and substantial .

3. Whether the violations charged in citation 3469434 and
Orders 3469435, 3469437, 3469438, 3469439, 3469440 and 3469471
were the result of USS's unwarrantable failure to conply with the
cited standards and whether the citation and orders were properly
i ssued.

4. If the violations are established, what are the
appropriate penalties.
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CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

USS is subject to the provisions of the Mne Act in the
operation of the Mnntac Plant and | have jurisdiction over the
parti es and subject matter of these proceedi ngs.

The safety standard contained in 30 C.F. R 0 56.11001
requires mne operators to provide and maintain safe means of
access to all working places. | interpret this to require that
all ordinarily used travel ways be kept clear of slipping and
tripping hazards. | do not accept the argunent that only
desi gnated travel ways are covered by this standard. | concl ude
that all wal kways or passageways used by niners, whether they are
engaged i n mai ntenance, cleaning or production are covered by the
standard. | interpret working places to include all areas where
work is ordinarily performed. | do not accept USS s argument that
the standard only applies to areas where work i s being perforned
at the time the violation is cited. Such an interpretation is
unrealistic, and not in keeping with the pronmotion of health and
safety envisioned by the Mne Act.

The safety standard contained in 30 C.F. R 0O 56.20003
requires mne operators to keep workpl aces and passageways cl ean
and orderly; it requires themto keep workplace floors clean and,
so far as possible, dry, and to maintain drai nhage and dry
standi ng pl aces where wet processes are used. As in ny
interpretation of O 56.11001, | conclude the standard applies to
all workpl aces and passageways, even though no work was being
performed at the tine of the cited violations, and even though
t he passageways were not designated or regularly used as such

The standard recogni zes that sone operations will result in wet
conditions: the issue in each of the cited violations is whether
t here were excessive anounts of dust, dirt, slurry, etc., in the

cited areas.

It is not clear in the citations and orders involved herein,
why sone were issued under 0 56.11001 (safe neans of access to
wor ki ng places), and sone under 0O 56.20003 (housekeeping
requi renents). Mst of the violations charged under either
standard invol ve wal kways. There is an overlap in the
requi rements of the two standards, however, and | do not find
that any of the citations or orders inproperly cited one standard
or the other.
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IV

The evidence concerning citation 3444248 shows that portions
of a wal kway 20 feet by 30 feet were covered with 2 inches of
slippery slurry. There were al so hoses buried in the slurry. The
area was a washdown floor, and enpl oyees had been assigned to
clean it. However, no one was cleaning it at the tine it was
cited. The condition rendered the wal kway unsafe. A violation of
30 CF.R [O056.11001 is established. It was noderately serious
and the result of ordinary negligence.

Citations 3469424 and 2469425 were issued because of dust
and other materials on wal kway. In both cases, the accumul ation
had existed for some tinme. The wal kways were not frequently used.
Violations of 30 CF.R [ 56.20003 are established. They were not
serious but resulted from USS s negligence.

Citation 3469426 charged a violation of 0O 56.11001 because
of an accurul ati on of ore on a wal kway up to 8 inches deep
covering an area of 10 feet by 3 feet. Enpl oyees sel dom entered
the area. The condition had existed for sonme tinme. It was
nmoderately serious and resulted fromnore than ordinary
negl i gence.

Citations 3469427 and 3469248 both charge viol ations of 0O
56. 20003 because of ore, hoses and other materials (427), and
slurry and ore (428). Both cases involve wal kways and extensive
areas. Both were low traffic areas. | conclude that the
vi ol ati ons were established; that they are not serious and were
the result of negligence.

Citations 3469429, 3469431, and 3469433 charge safe access
violations: [ 56.11001. Each involves a substantial accumnul ation
of wet slurry on wal kways. The areas were not frequently
travel l ed. The extent of the accumul ati ons nake the violations
noderately serious. They resulted from USS negligence which was
mtigated to sone extent by the fact that the punps needed for
cl eanup were inoperative.

Citation 3469434 was issued under section 104(d) (1) charging
a violation of [0 56.11001 because of an accunul ation of slurry
al ong a wal kway with hoses |lying across the wal kway. The wal kway
was used by a | arge nunber of enployees. It posed a hazard to
such enpl oyees and a violation was established. It was serious
and resulted fromthe negligence of USS.

Orders 3469435, 3469437, 3469438, 3469439, and 3469440 were
i ssued under section 104(d) (1) and charge violations of 0O
56. 11001 because of accumnul ati ons of ore al ong wal kways, slurry
al ong wal kways, slurry and water covering the entire floor. In
each instance, | conclude that a violation was established. In
each case it was noderately serious and the result of the
negl i gence of USS. The negligence concerning the violation
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charged in order 3469437 is nmitigated by the fact that a sign
restricting access was present.

Order 3469471 charges a violation of O 56.11001 because of
an accunul ation of wet slurry along an infrequently used wal kway.
A violation was established. It was not serious but was the
result of negligence.

\Y

Citations 3444248 and 3469434 and Order 3469438 charge
viol ations of a significant and substantial nature. The
Commi ssion has held that a violation is significant and
substantial if there is a reasonable |ikelihood that the hazard
contributed to by the violation will result in an injury of a
reasonably serious nature. Mathies Coal Conpany, 6 FMSHRC 1
(1984); U.S. Steel Mning, Incorporated, 6 FMSHRC 1834 (1984). In
each of the violations involved here, substantial areas of
accunul ati on were involved. The wal kways were frequently
travell ed. Both slipping and tripping hazards were present.
conclude that in each instance, serious injuries were likely to
result. The violations were significant and substanti al

Vi

Citation 3469434 and Orders 3469435, 3469437, 3469438,
3469439, 3469440, and 34694471 were issued under section
104(d) (1) and charge that the violations were the result of the
unwarrantable failure of USS to conply with the standard in
question. In Emery Mning Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1997 (1987), the
Commi ssion stated that unwarrantable failure nmeans aggravated
conduct, constituting nore than ordinary negligence. | conclude
that the Secretary has failed to establish such aggravated
conduct in relation to any of the cited i nstances. There were a
| arge nunber of violations of the standards involved herein.
M ners had conpl ai ned of cl eanup problenms on many occasi ons. On
the other hand, nmitigating circunstances were present in that the
wat er punps were inoperative for a period of time. USS had
devot ed substantial overtime work to attenpt to alleviate the
probl ems. Negligence was established; unwarrantable failure was
not. The violations were not properly witten under section
104(d).

ORDER

Based on the above findings of fact and conclusi ons of | aw,
IT 1S ORDERED

1. Citations 3444248, 3469426, 3469429, 3469431, 3469433,
3469424, 3469425, 3469427 and 3469428 are AFFIRVED, Citation
3444248 including its special finding of a significant and
substantial violation.



~156

2. Citation 3469434 and Orders 3469435, 3469437, 3469438,
3460439, 3469440 and 3469471 are MODI FIED to 104(a) citations;
the unwarrantable failure finding is renoved.

3. The contest proceedings are thus GRANTED I N PART, in that
the unwarrantable failure finding is renoved, and DEN ED | N PART
in that the violations are AFFI RVED

4., Guided by the criteria in section 110(i) of the Act, |
conclude that the following civil penalties are appropriate for
the violations and USS shall, within 30 days of the date of this
decision pay civil penalties as foll ows:

CI TATI ON PENALTY
3444248 $ 250
3469426 350
3469429 400
3469431 400
3469433 400
3469434 750
3469435 750
3569437 600
3569438 750
3469439 750
3469440 750
3469471 200
3469424 200
3469425 200
3469427 200
3469428 200
TOTAL $7150

James A. Broderick
Adm ni strative Law Judge



